

Stroke or TIA (more than 6 months ago or never)

Clinical Guidelines for Medical Necessity Review

Version:V1.0Effective Date:October 23, 2022

Important Notices

Notices & Disclaimers:

GUIDELINES SOLELY FOR COHERE'S USE IN PERFORMING MEDICAL NECESSITY REVIEWS AND ARE NOT INTENDED TO INFORM OR ALTER CLINICAL DECISION MAKING OF END USERS.

Cohere Health, Inc. (<u>"Cohere</u>") has published these clinical guidelines to determine the medical necessity of services (the <u>"Guidelines"</u>) for informational purposes only and solely for use by Cohere's authorized <u>"End Users."</u> These Guidelines (and any attachments or linked third party content) are not intended to be a substitute for medical advice, diagnosis, or treatment directed by an appropriately licensed healthcare professional. These Guidelines are not in any way intended to support clinical decision-making of any kind; their sole purpose and intended use are to summarize certain criteria Cohere may use when reviewing the medical necessity of any service requests submitted to Cohere by End Users. Always seek the advice of a qualified healthcare professional regarding any medical questions, treatment decisions, or other clinical guidance. The Guidelines, including any attachments or linked content, are subject to change at any time without notice.

©2022 Cohere Health, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

Other Notices:

CPT copyright 2019 American Medical Association. All rights reserved. CPT is a registered trademark of the American Medical Association.

Guideline Information:

Disease Area: Cardiology Care Path Group: Vascular Disease Care Path Name: Stroke Type: [X] Adult (18+ yo) | [_] Pediatric (0-17yo)

Physician author: Mary Krebs, MD (Primary Care Physician), Steven A. Kagan, MD RVT **Peer reviewed by:** Saurav Chatterjee, MD (Cardiologist), Russell Rotondo, MD FACC (Cardiologist) **Literature review current through**: October 23, 2022 **Document last updated:** October 23, 2022

Table of Contents	
Important Notices	2
Care Path Overview	5
Care Path Clinical Discussion	5
Key Information	6
Care Path Diagnostic Criteria	8
Disease Classification	8
ICD-10 Codes Associated with Classification	8
Presentation and Etiology	9
Causes and Risk Factors3,2	9
Typical History	9
Typical Physical Exam Findings	9
Typical Diagnostic Evaluation	9
Care Path Services & Medical Necessity Criteria	10
Non-Invasive Testing	10
Service: Carotid Duplex Ultrasound (Carotid Doppler)	10
General Guidelines	10
Medical Necessity Criteria	10
Indications	10
Non-Indications	10
Site of Service Criteria	11
Procedure Codes (HCPCS/CPT)	11
Service: Computed Tomography Angiography (CTA), Neck	12
General Guidelines	12
Medical Necessity Criteria	12
Indications	12
Non-Indications	12
Site of Service Criteria	12
Procedure Codes (HCPCS/CPT)	13
Service: Magnetic Resonance Angiogram (MRA), Neck	14
General Guidelines	14
Medical Necessity Criteria	14
Indications	14
Non-Indications	14
Site of Service Criteria	14

Procedure Codes (HCPCS/CPT)	15
Surgical or Interventional Management	16
Service: Carotid Endarterectomy (CEA) for asymptomatic extrac carotid artery occlusive disease	cranial 16
General Guidelines	16
Medical Necessity Criteria	16
Indications	16
Non-Indications	16
Applicable CMS Medicare NCDs & LCDs	16
Site of Service Criteria	16
Procedure Codes (HCPCS/CPT)	17
Service: Carotid Artery Stenting (CAS) and/or Transcarotid revascularization (TCAR)	artery 18
General Guidelines	18
Medical Necessity Criteria	18
Indications	18
Non-Indications	18
Site of Service Criteria	18
Procedure Codes (HCPCS/CPT)	18
Surgical Risk Factors	20
References	23
Clinical Guideline Revision History/Information	26

Care Path Overview

Care Path Clinical Discussion

Atherosclerosis is defined as the buildup of plaque (fats, cholesterol and other substances) in the arterial wall. Atherosclerotic plaque frequently leads to narrowing of the affected artery, and this narrowing restricts the flow of arterial blood. Atherosclerotic plaque can also ulcerate leading to distal embolization and/or thrombosis of the affected artery. Atherosclerosis of the carotid arteries increases the risk of stroke.

Carotid revascularization procedures (e.g., carotid endarterectomy and/or carotid angioplasty and stenting) may be clinically indicated to reduce the risk of stroke in patients with asymptomatic or symptomatic carotid artery atherosclerosis.

Carotid artery atherosclerosis typically occurs in the carotid bulb and extends into the proximal internal carotid artery (ICA).14 Carotid artery stenosis is classified as either extracranial or intracranial. Extracranial refers to the carotid arteries outside of the skull, and intracranial refers to arteries inside or at the base of the skull. The policy coverage details in this document apply to patients with extracranial carotid artery occlusive disease.

Asymptomatic carotid artery disease is defined as the presence of atherosclerotic narrowing of the extracranial internal carotid artery in patients with no history of recent ipsilateral carotid territory TIA or ischemic stroke (i.e. within the last 6 months).

Patients with asymptomatic extracranial carotid artery stenosis may be treated with either best medical therapy (i.e. platelet inhibition therapy, statin therapy etc) or carotid intervention.

The information contained herein gives a general overview of the pathway of this specific diagnosis, beginning with the initial presentation, recommended assessments, and treatment options as supported by the medical literature and existing guidelines. It should be noted that the care of patients can be complex. The information below is meant to support clinical decision-making in adult patients. It is not necessarily applicable to every case, as the entire clinical picture (including comorbidities, history, etc.) should be considered.

Key Information

- Extracranial carotid artery occlusive disease is often asymptomatic and screening for asymptomatic extracranial cerebrovascular disease remains controversial
- Stroke affects nearly 800,000 individuals, with many survivors experiencing persistent difficulty with daily tasks as a direct consequence. More than two-thirds of stroke survivors receive rehabilitation services after hospitalization.¹
- Physical, occupational, and speech therapy can be beneficial for stroke patients to maximize recovery.²
- Carotid revascularization may be beneficial for asymptomatic patients with greater than 70% stenosis of the internal carotid artery.

Stroke or TIA (more than 6 months ago or never)

What is a "Cohere Care Path"?

These Care Paths organize the services typically considered most clinically optimal and likely to be automatically approved. These service recommendations also include the suggested sequencing and quantity or frequency determined clinically appropriate and medically necessary for the management of most patient care scenarios in this Care Path's diagnostic cohort.

or most patient care s	cenarios in this care Patri's diagnostic conort.	Non-Surgical Management	Surgical Management
Workup and			
Symptom Monitoring	Labs	•	
	Carotid Duplex Ultrasound (Carotid Doppler) PA		Non-
Non-Invasive Testing	Computed Tomography Angiography (CTA), Neck	•୍ଚ୍ଚ୍	Surgice
	Magnetic Resonance Angiogram (MRA), Neck		Non-Surgical Management
	Medical Therapy (e.g., beta-blockers, ACE inhibitors as appropriate)		gement
Non-Surgical Management	Lifestyle Changes (e.g., healthy diet, exercise)	•	
	Tobacco Cessation	•	
Surgical or Interventional Management	Carotid Endarterectomy PA		
	Carotid Artery Stenting (CAS)/TCAR PA		O R

Кеу

- PA = Service may require prior authorization
- * = Denotes preferred service
- AND = Services completed concurrently
- OR = Services generally mutually exclusive
- = Non-surgical management prior authorization group of services
 - = Surgical management prior authorization group of services = Subsequent service
- = Management path moves to a different management path

Care Path Diagnostic Criteria

Disease Classification

Asymptomatic extracranial cerebrovascular disease

ICD-10 Codes Associated with Classification

ICD-10 Code	Code Description/Definition
165	Occlusion and stenosis of precerebral arteries, not resulting in cerebral infarction
165.0	Occlusion and stenosis of vertebral artery
165.01	Occlusion and stenosis of right vertebral artery
165.02	Occlusion and stenosis of left vertebral artery
165.03	Occlusion and stenosis of bilateral vertebral arteries
165.09	Occlusion and stenosis of unspecified vertebral artery
165.1	Occlusion and stenosis of basilar artery
165.2	Occlusion and stenosis of carotid artery
165.21	Occlusion and stenosis of right carotid artery
165.22	Occlusion and stenosis of left carotid artery
165.23	Occlusion and stenosis of bilateral carotid arteries
165.29	Occlusion and stenosis of unspecified carotid artery
165.8	Occlusion and stenosis of other precerebral arteries
165.9	Occlusion and stenosis of unspecified precerebral artery
167	Other cerebrovascular diseases
167.2	Cerebral atherosclerosis
167.8	Other specified cerebrovascular diseases
167.89	Other cerebrovascular disease
167.9	Cerebrovascular disease, unspecified
168	Cerebrovascular disorders in diseases classified elsewhere
168.8	Other cerebrovascular disorders in diseases classified

Presentation and Etiology

Causes and Risk Factors^{3,2}

- Hypertension
- Hyperlipidemia
- Diabetes mellitus
- Sleep apnea
- Obesity
- Tobacco use

Typical History

• Asymptomatic

Typical Physical Exam Findings

- Previous PE evidence of prior carotid intervention
- Carotid bruit or carotid thrill
- Diminished or absent carotid pulse

Typical Diagnostic Evaluation

- Carotid duplex ultrasonography
- CTA
- MRA

Care Path Services & Medical Necessity Criteria

Non-Invasive Testing

Service: Carotid Duplex Ultrasound (Carotid Doppler)

General Guidelines

- Units, Frequency, & Duration: None.
- **Criteria for Subsequent Requests:** Subsequent requests may be appropriate for follow-up or if there is a change in clinical status.
- **Recommended Clinical Approach:** Carotid duplex ultrasonography is a non-invasive method of imaging the extracranial carotid and vertebral arteries. The test involves combining 2-dimensional real-time imaging with Doppler flow analysis to evaluate vessels of interest and measure blood flow velocity. Computed tomographic angiography (CTA) and magnetic resonance angiogram (MRA) are options when a carotid duplex is not readily available or when results are equivocal.⁴
- Exclusions: None.

Medical Necessity Criteria

Indications

- → Carotid Duplex Ultrasound is considered appropriate if ANY of the following is TRUE⁵
 - Patients with a history of extracranial cerebrovascular disease
 - Patients with a history of a prior carotid revascularization procedure (e.g. carotid stent, carotid endarterectomy or carotid bypass)
 - Patients with a diminished or absent carotid pulse, a carotid bruit or a carotid thrill on physical examination

Non-Indications

- → Carotid Duplex Ultrasound is not considered appropriate if ANY of the following is TRUE:
 - Non-invasive vascular studies done for screening purposes (i.e., without signs or symptoms of extracranial cerebrovascular disease)⁶

Site of Service Criteria

Outpatient.

Procedure Codes (HCPCS/CPT)

HCPCS Code	Code Description/Definition
93880	Extracranial arteries; complete bilateral study
93882	Extracranial arteries; unilateral or limited study

Service: Computed Tomography Angiography (CTA), Neck

General Guidelines

- Units, Frequency, & Duration: Cervical computed tomography angiography (CTA) is a noninvasive imaging technology that can be used to evaluate and image vessels in the head and neck.
- **Criteria for Subsequent Requests:** CTA may be indicated for ongoing follow-up of asymptomatic extracranial cerebrovascular disease Subsequent orders can be placed before, during, or after treatment.
- **Recommended Clinical Approach:** CTA may be used as the primary modality for detecting asymptomatic cerebrovascular disease or as an adjunctive tool for characterizing known diseases or assessing changes over time.
- **Exclusions:** This document only includes criteria for CTA of the head/neck. CTA of the head, body, and extremities are excluded and discussed separately.

Medical Necessity Criteria

Indications

- → CTA Neck is considered appropriate if ANY of the following are TRUE⁵:
 - Carotid duplex scanning is inadequate (or unavailable) for diagnosis and/or follow-up
 - Suspected intracranial cerebrovascular disease
 - ◆ Post-procedure follow-up (percutaneous and surgical)^{Z-19}

Non-Indications

- → CTA Neck may not be considered appropriate if ANY of the following is TRUE:
 - Chronic kidney disease or acute kidney injury (glomerular filtration rate less than 30 mL/min/1.73m2 (or 0.5 mL/sec/1.73m2))
 - Personal/family history of allergic reaction to iodinated contrast media (e.g., anaphylaxis)
 - Current Pregnancy

<u>Site of Service Criteria</u> Outpatient.

Procedure Codes (HCPCS/CPT)

HCPCS Code	Code Description/Definition		
	Computed tomographic angiography (CTA) of neck with		
70498	contrast material and image postprocessing		

Service: Magnetic Resonance Angiogram (MRA), Neck

General Guidelines

- Units, Frequency, & Duration: None.
- Criteria for Subsequent Requests: None.
- **Recommended Clinical Approach:** Magnetic resonance angiography (MRA) is a noninvasive imaging technology that can be used to evaluate and image vessels in the head and neck. MRA can be performed with or without gadolinium contrast based on patient characteristics and imaging requirements
- Exclusions: None.

Medical Necessity Criteria

Indications

- → Neck MRA is considered appropriate if ANY of the following is TRUE:
 - Carotid duplex scanning is inadequate (or unavailable) for diagnosis and/or follow-up²⁰
 - Patient requires the evaluation of **ANY** of the following:
 - Routine follow-up
 - Post-procedure follow-up (percutaneous and surgical)

Non-Indications

- → Neck MRA may not be considered appropriate if ANY of the following is TRUE:
 - Non-compatible implanted devices.
 - Metallic intraocular foreign bodies.
 - There is a potential for adverse reactions to contrast media.
 - The patient has significant claustrophobia.
 - If the patient has renal insufficiency (eGFR less than 30 mL/min per 1.73 m²) and if gadolinium contrast is requested, an MRI/MRA may not be considered appropriate.

Site of Service Criteria Inpatient or outpatient

Procedure Codes (HCPCS/CPT)

HCPCS Code	Code Description/Definition
70547	Magnetic Resonance Angiography, neck; without contrast material(s)
70548	Magnetic Resonance Angiography, neck; with contrast material(s)
70549	Magnetic Resonance Angiography, neck; without contrast material(s), followed by contrast material(s) and further sequences

Surgical or Interventional Management

Service: Carotid Endarterectomy (CEA) for asymptomatic extracranial carotid artery occlusive disease

General Guidelines

- Units, Frequency, & Duration: None.
- Criteria for Subsequent Requests: None
- **Recommended Clinical Approach:** Patients with asymptomatic extracranial carotid artery occlusive disease may be candidates for CEA to reduce the risk of stroke.
- **Exclusions:** Except in extraordinary circumstances, carotid revascularization by CEA is not recommended when atherosclerosis narrows the lumen by less than 50%. CEA is not recommended for patients with chronic total occlusion of the targeted carotid artery.⁵

Medical Necessity Criteria

Indications

- \rightarrow CEA is considered appropriate if ANY of the following is TRUE²¹⁻²²:
 - Does the patient have evidence of asymptomatic carotid artery occlusive disease and ALL of the following:
 - Greater than or equal to 70% stenosis of a surgically accessible extracranial carotid artery
 - Acceptable surgical risk (less than 3%).
 - Acceptable long-term survival (greater than or equal to 5 years)

Non-Indications

- → CEA is not considered appropriate if ANY of the following is TRUE:
 - The surgical risk is greater than or equal to 3%.
 - Life expectancy less than 5 years
 - The degree of stenosis is less than 50%.²¹

Applicable CMS Medicare NCDs & LCDs

None.

Site of Service Criteria

Inpatient.

Procedure Codes (HCPCS/CPT)

HCPCS Code	Code Description/Definition
35301	Carotid thromboendarterectomy by neck incision

Service: Carotid Artery Stenting (CAS) and/or Transcarotid artery revascularization (TCAR)

General Guidelines

- Units, Frequency, & Duration: None.
- **Criteria for Subsequent Requests:** Repeat carotid stenting or repeat TCAR represents an unusual clinical scenario which could necessitate a peer to peer review for approval.
- Recommended Clinical Approach: CAS has been shown to be an acceptable alternative for the treatment of asymptomatic patients with severe (>70%) stenosis of the extracranial carotid circulation
 Exclusions: Visible thrombus within the lesion detected on preoperative or intraoperative imaging (e.g., ultrasound, angiography), inability to gain vascular access, or active infection.²³

Medical Necessity Criteria

Indications

- → CAS/TCAR is considered appropriate if ANY of the following is TRUE²¹⁻²²:
 ♦ For asymptomatic patients and ALL of the following are TRUE:
 - ICA stenosis greater than or equal to 70% by invasive or noninvasive imaging
 - Anticipated rate of periprocedural stroke or death is <3%,
 - ◆ In patients with asymptomatic severe stenosis (≥70%) in whom anatomic or medical conditions are present that increase the risk for carotid endarterectomy surgery (e.g., radiation-induced stenosis, carotid restenosis or a surgically inaccessible lesion), it is reasonable to choose CAS or TCAR to reduce the periprocedural complication rate.²⁴

Non-Indications

- → CAS/TCAR is not considered appropriate if ANY of the following is TRUE:
 - Procedure risk is unacceptable

Site of Service Criteria

Inpatient.

Procedure Codes (HCPCS/CPT)

HCPCS Code Code Description/Definition

37215	Open transcatheter placement of intravascular stent in cervical carotid artery with distal embolic protection
37216	Percutaneous transcatheter placement of intravascular stent in cervical carotid artery
37217	Transcatheter placement of intravascular stent in intrathoracic common carotid artery or innominate artery by retrograde treatment with open exposure of ipsilateral cervical carotid artery
37218	Transcatheter insertion of stent of intrathoracic common carotid artery or innominate artery by open or percutaneous antegrade approach with angioplasty, and radiological supervision and interpretation

Surgical Risk Factors

Patient Medical Risk Stratification

Patient Risk Score	Patient Characteristic	Min Range	Max Range	Guidance
1- Very Low Risk	No known medical problems			
2- Low Risk	Hypertension		180/110 mm Hg	
2- Low Risk	Asthma	peak flow >80% of predicted or personal best value		
2- Low Risk	Prior history of alcohol abuse			Screen for liver disease and malnutrition
2- Low Risk	Prior history of tobacco use			
3- Intermediate Risk	Asthma	peak flow <80% of predicted or personal best value		
3- Intermediate Risk	Active alcohol abuse			
3- Intermediate Risk	Age	65	75	
3- Intermediate Risk	History of treated, stable coronary artery disease (CAD)			
3- Intermediate Risk	Stable atrial fibrillation			
3- Intermediate Risk	Diabetes mellitus	HbA1C >7%		
3- Intermediate Risk	Morbid obesity	ВМІ 30	BMI 40	
3- Intermediate Risk	Anemia	hemoglobin <11 (females), <12 (males)		Workup to identify etiology
3- Intermediate Risk	ні	CD4 <200 cells/mm3		Get clearance from HIV specialist
3- Intermediate Risk	Rheumatologic disease			Preoperative consultation with rheumatologist re: perioperative medication management
3- Intermediate Risk	Peripheral vascular disease or history of peripheral vascular bypass	ankle-brachi al pressure		Preoperative consultation with vascular surgeon

		index (ABPI)	1	
		<0.9		
3- Intermediate	History of venous thromboembolism			
Risk	(VTE)			
3- Intermediate	Well-controlled obstructive sleep			
Risk	apnea			
3- Intermediate		transferrin <200 mg/dL albumin <3.5 g/dL prealbumin <22.5 mg/dL total lymphocyte count <1200-1500 cell/mm3		Preoperative consultation with
Risk	Malnutrition	BMI <18		nutritionist
3- Intermediate Risk	Active tobacco Use			Enroll patient in smoking cessation program
3- Intermediate Risk	Known allergy or hypersensitivity to medication needed for procedure			
4- High Risk	Advanced Renal Disease (Creatinine > 2)			
4- High Risk	Diabetes mellitus with complications	HbAlc >8%		
4- High Risk	Age	76	85	
4- High Risk	Oxygen dependent pulmonary disease			
4- High Risk	Sickle cell anemia			
4- High Risk	Obesity	ВМІ 40		
4- High Risk	Cirrhosis, history of hepatic decompensation or variceal bleeding			
4- High Risk	Impaired cognition; dementia			
4- High Risk	Compensated CHF			
4- High Risk	Cerebrovascular disease			
4- High Risk	Uncontrolled or suspected obstructive sleep apnea (OSA)			
4- High Risk	Renal insufficiency	serum creatinine >1.5 mg/dL or creatinine		

		clearance		
		<100 mL/min		
4- High Risk	Opioid dependence			
5- Very High Risk	Percutaneous Coronary Intervention (PCI) within 1 month			
5- Very High Risk	Cardiovascular: unstable angina, recent myocardial infarction (60 days), uncontrolled atrial fibrillation or other high-grade abnormal rhythm, severe valvular disease, decompensated heart failure			
5- Very High Risk	Primary pulmonary hypertension			Preoperative consultation with pulmonologist warranted
5- Very High Risk	Cirrhosis or severe liver disease, history of hepatic decompensation or variceal bleeding			
5- Very High Risk	Severe frailty, dependence for ADLs, or history of 3 or more falls in last 6 mos			
5- Very High Risk	Obesity		BMI >50	
5- Very High Risk	Age		>85	
5- Very High Risk	History of VTE with CI to anticoagulation, failure of anticoagulation, cessation of anticoagulation therapy secondary to bleeding			Preoperative consultation with hematologist or internist
5- Very High Risk	Renal failure requiring dialysis			
5- Very High Risk	Immunosuppression			
5- Very High Risk	Chronic Pain			

References

- Winstein CJ, Stein J, Arena R, et al. Guidelines for Adult Stroke Rehabilitation and Recovery: A Guideline for Healthcare Professionals From the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association [published correction appears in Stroke. 2017 Feb;48(2):e78] [published correction appears in Stroke. 2017 Dec;48(12):e369]. Stroke. 2016;47(6):e98-e169. doi:10.1161/STR.000000000000098
- 2. Bernheisel CR, Schlaudecker JD, Leopold K. Subacute management of ischemic stroke. Am Fam Physician. 2011;84(12):1383-1388.
- 3. Oza R, Rundell K, Garcellano M. Recurrent Ischemic Stroke: Strategies for Prevention. Am Fam Physician. 2017;96(7):436-440.
- 4. Evans N. Carotid Artery Stenosis. Cleveland Clinic Center for Continuing Education: Disease Management Home. May 2016.
- 5. Brott TG, Halperin JL, Abbara S, et al. 2011 ASA/ACCF/AHA/AANN/AANS/ACR/ASNR/CNS/SAIP/SCAI/SIR/SNIS/SVM/S VS guideline on the management of patients with extracranial carotid and vertebral artery disease: executive summary. A report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines, and the American Stroke Association, American Association of Neuroscience Nurses, American Association of Neurological Surgeons, American College of Radiology, American Society of Neuroradiology, Congress of Neurological Surgeons, Society of Atherosclerosis Imaging and Prevention, Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions, Society of Interventional Radiology, Society of NeuroInterventional Surgery, Society for Vascular Medicine, and Society for Vascular Surgery [published correction appears in Circulation. 2011;124(4):489-532. doi:10.1161/CIR.0b013e31820d8d78.
- 6. JAMA Netw Open. 2021;4(2):e2036218. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen. 2020.36218
- 7. Chen W, Yang Y, Xing W, Qiu J, Peng Y. Sixteen-row multislice computed tomography angiography in the diagnosis and characterization of intracranial aneurysms: comparison with conventional angiography and intraoperative findings. J Neurosurg 2008;108:1184-91.
- 8. Dehdashti AR, Binaghi S, Uske A, Regli L. Comparison of multislice computerized tomography angiography and digital subtraction

angiography in the postoperative evaluation of patients with clipped aneurysms. J Neurosurg 2006;104:395-403.

- 9. Katano H, Kato K, Umemura A, Yamada K. Perioperative evaluation of carotid endarterectomy by 3D-CT angiography with refined reconstruction: preliminary experience of CEA without conventional angiography. Br J Neurosurg 2004;18:138-48.
- 10. Lev MH, Farkas J, Rodriguez VR, et al. CT angiography in the rapid triage of patients with hyperacute stroke to intraarterial thrombolysis: accuracy in the detection of large vessel thrombus. J Comput Assist Tomogr 2001;25:520-8.
- Ozsvath RR, Casey SO, Lustrin ES, Alberico RA, Hassankhani A, Patel M. Cerebral venography: comparison of CT and MR projection venography. AJR Am J Roentgenol 1997;169:1699-707.
- 12. Papke K, Kuhl CK, Fruth M, et al. Intracranial aneurysms: role of multidetector CT angiography in diagnosis and endovascular therapy planning. Radiology 2007;244:532-40.
- 13. Rosenthal ES, Schwamm LH, Roccatagliata L, et al. Role of recanalization in acute stroke outcome: rationale for a CT angiogram-based "benefit of recanalization" model. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 2008;29:1471-5.
- 14. Wetzel SG, Kirsch E, Stock KW, Kolbe M, Kaim A, Radue EW. Cerebral veins: comparative study of CT venography with intraarterial digital subtraction angiography. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 1999;20:249-55.
- Bal S, Bhatia R, Shobha N, et al. Stroke- on- Awakening: Safety of CT-CTA Based Selection for Reperfusion Therapy. Can J Neurol Sci 2014;41:182-6.
- Fiebach JB, Al-Rawi Y, Wintermark M, et al. Vascular occlusion enables selecting acute ischemic stroke patients for treatment with desmoteplase. Stroke 2012;43:1561-6.
- Gonzalez RG, Furie KL, Goldmacher GV, et al. Good outcome rate of 35% in IV-tPA-treated patients with computed tomography angiography confirmed severe anterior circulation occlusive stroke. Stroke 2013;44:3109-13.
- Nambiar V, Sohn SI, Almekhlafi MA, et al. CTA collateral status and response to recanalization in patients with acute ischemic stroke. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 2014;35:884-90.
- 19. Wada K, Nawashiro H, Ohkawa H, Arimoto H, Takeuchi S, Mori K. Feasibility of the combination of 3D CTA and 2D CT imaging guidance

for clipping microsurgery of anterior communicating artery aneurysm. Br J Neurosurg 2015;29:229-36.

- 20. Magnetic resonance angiography is an accurate imaging adjunct to duplex ultrasound scan in patient selection for carotid endarterectomy Martin R. Back, MD, Jeffrey S. Wilson, MD, Gregory Rushing, MS, Norma Stordahl, ARNP, Craig Linden, MD, Brad L. Johnson, MD, and Dennis F. Bandyk, MD,a Tampa, Fla. JOURNAL OF VASCULAR SURGERY Volume 32, Number 3 Sept 2000
- 21. Kernan WN, Ovbiagele B, Black HR, et al. Guidelines for the prevention of stroke in patients with stroke and transient ischemic attack: a guideline for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association [published correction appears in Stroke. 2015 Feb;46(2):e54]. Stroke. 2014;45(7):2160-2236. doi:10.1161/STR.00000000000024
- 22.2021 Guideline for the Prevention of Stroke in Patients With Stroke and Transient Ischemic Attack. A Guideline From the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. Reviewed for evidence-based integrity and endorsed by the American Association of Neurological Surgeons and Congress of Neurological Surgeons. Endorsed by the Society of Vascular and Interventional Neurology. The American Academy of Neurology affirms the value of this statement as an educational tool for neurologists. Dawn O. Kleindorfer, MD, FAHA, Chair; Amytis Towfighi, MD, FAHA, Vice Chair; Seemant Chaturvedi, MD, FAHA, et al. Stroke. 2021;52:e364–e467. DOI: 10.1161/STR.00000000000375.
- 23. White CJ, Ramee SR, Collins TJ, et al. Carotid stents to prevent stroke: a nonsurgical option. Ochsner J. 2003;5(1):18-23.
- 24. Carotid artery stenting may be performed safely in patients with radiation therapy-associated carotid stenosis without increased restenosis or target lesion revascularization Reid A. Ravin, MD,a Armand Gottlieb, BS,a Kyle Pasternac, BS,a Neal Cayne, MD,b Darren Schneider, MD,c Prakash Krishnan, MD,a Michael Marin, MD,a and Peter L. Faries, MD,a New York, NY JOURNAL OF VASCULAR SURGERY Volume 62, Number 3

Clinical Guideline Revision History/Information

Original Date: October 23, 2022	
Review History	
October 23, 2022 (V.1)	 Physician author: Mary Krebs, MD (Primary Care Physician), Steven A. Kagan, MD Peer reviewed by: Saurav Chatterjee, MD (Cardiologist) Approving Physician: Russell Rotondo, MD FACC (Cardiologist)